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1. Name of Property
historic name Frenchtown Historic Distrigt
other names/site number

2. Location Roughliy bounded by N,Fifth, Clark, and French

street & number_ Streots, and the Missouri River N /18 i not for publication
city, town St. Charles v /18 Jvicinity
state _Missouri cede MO county St . Charlesg code M) 183 zZipcode F 3307
3. Classification
Cwnership of Propeny Category of Propeny Number of Resources within Propery
X Jprivate [ building(s) Conlributing Noncontributing
X ] public-local X} district 205 53 »uildings
D public-State D site sites
(] pubiic-Federal (] structure T 1. structures

[:[ object obiects

206 54  Total
MName of related multiple property listing: Number of contributing resources previcusly
N/A listed in the Nationat Register

4. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966, as amended, | hereby certify that this
[}_}nomination Drequesl for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the
National Register of Historic Places and meets the precedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60.

In my OPPW?P“E‘ prep ,- goes nat meet the National Register ¢riteria, See continuation si;eel.
7 W

Signature of certifying official Claire F. Blackwell Date
Deputy State Historic Preservation Officer
Siate or Federal agency ant Durgau

In my opinion, the property Dmeets Ddoes not meet the National Register criteria. DSee continuation shest.

Signature of commenting or ather official Date

State or Fedaral agency and bureau

5. National Park Service Certitication
I, hereby, certify that this property is:
[ Jentered in the Naticnal Ragister.
D Sea continuation sheet.
[ Jdetermined efigitle for the National
Register. [jSee continuation shaest.
Ddeiermined nct sligible for the
National Register.

Dremoved from the Nationa! Register.
Dother, (expiain:)

Signature of the Keepar Date of Action
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8. Statement of Significance

Cenlitying ctiicial has consicered tne s:gnificance of this progerty 10 relation 1o ciher precertes:

Dna!iona&ly : statewide 3 locally
Applicable Nationa! Register Criteria @ A E B @ c o
Criteria Consideraticns {Exceptions) D A [Te Thc o (e Tfr e

Arpas of Significanca (entar categories frem Instructions)-
Architecturs , '
Ethnic Heritaage - Furopean
Religion

Industrv

Education

Significant Person
Duchesne, Rose Philipopine

Period cf Significance
c.1830-1940

Significant Dates

N/A

Cultural Affiliation
_N/A

Architecy/Buildor

Platte, John Jdaoseph

HWessheacher, {nunisg

State significanca af propecty, and justify ¢ritaria, critaria considerations, and argas and periods of significance noted abcva,

The Frenchtown Historic District is eligible for Tisting in the
National Register under Criteria A, B, and €, and is significant in the
following areas: ARCHITECTURE (c,1830 =-1940): District building types
and styles illustrate the evolution of a sparsely-settled mid-19th
century immigrant neighborhood into a 20th century working-class
community with churches, scheols, a ccmmercial street and industry.
Although the majority of buildings are vernacular designs influsnced by
American naticnal styles including, Federal/Greek Revival, Late
Victorian, Revival idioms and Early Modern, a group of houses
reflecting French Coleonial design formsa distinctive component of the
neighborhood, setting 1t apart from cother residential areas. District
buildings display an unusual homecgeneity, achieved by a preponderance
of small one-and-a-half-story bulldings of local brick or frame
construction which exhibit similar scale, proportions and elements of
design. The District also includes a large industrial complex of
buildings that are unified by their simply articulated pllastered brick
walls which also harmonize with the District’s brick fabric. ETHNIC
HERITAGE {c.31830 - 1900): Influence of early French settlement in the
District is evident in a group of houses which exhibit salient elements
of French Colonial house design. German District residents contributed
skitled labor to the bullding trades and to the work force of the
American Car & Foundry Company. Germans also developed the commerical
strip on North Second Street which served the Frenchtown neighborheood
and the rural hinterlands. INDUSTRY {1888 -1%40}: The St.Charles Car
Company, founded in 1873, became part of a2 naticnal merger which formed
the American Car & Foundry Company in 1899. During its more than a
century-long existence aleng the District’s riverfront, the company was
the major contributor to the city’s economy, early giving employment to
St.Charles’ largest work force, and drawing new immigrants and other
residents to the city. During both World Wars I and II, the St.Charles
complex played an important role in wartime industry, adapting the
ptant to production of military equipment. EDUCATION (1835 - 1940):

KB See continuation sheet
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Sacred Heart Academy, founded in St.Charles in 1818 as North America’s
first Convent and Academy of the Sacred Heart, was a regional pioneer
in the Tield of education, offering day and boarding school
opportunites to girls Jong bhefcre public schools were first astabliched
in St.Chariss in 13846, c¢r open ir other fraontier towns. By the late
19th century, the pcademy had developed a full curriculum, and expanded
facilities which permitted increased enroliment and continuued sarvice
to the area. Franklin School, opened in 1902 for black students,
became in 13914 St.Charles’ only public scheol offering education tz
blacks. 32eginning as a Grade School, tThe institution by 1332 had
established a four year High School program which also served cutlying
communities in St.Charles County. RELIGION {1242-18523) (Critaricn B):
The last decade of her 1ife, Rose Philippine Duchesne (1769-1852), one
of oniy four Roman Catholic saints in Merth America, resided at the
Jacred Heart Academy, an institution she had faounded and one of cnly
two properties in the nation directly associated with her life. Iuring
this pericd she exempiified the Christian virtues and sanctity which
contrihuted to her canonization, wWhile lending suppart to convent
matters when needed.

At the turn of the 13th century Upper Louisiana (which included
Missouri) was remote and thinly populated except for the fringe cf
river settlements of which St. Louis (founded by a New Crleans French
fur company) was the metropolis. The lucrative fur trade along the
Missouri River quickly made St.Lcuis a flourishing center of commerce
and socon drew cother Frenchmen to the area. In 1769, just five years
after St. Louis was founded, French-Canadian fur trader and hunter
Louis Blanchette established a military cutpost at the site of St.
Charles. It was Tocated on the west bank of the Missouri River near its
confluence with the Mississippi, abcut twenty miles from St. Louis.
Known first as Les Petites Cotes (the Tittle hills) hecause of its
topegraphical features, the village was later named St. Charles in
honor of patron Saint Charles Borromeo, and Spanish King Charles IV,
whose government controlled the Mississippi Valley from 1762 to 180C.
St. Charles was the first permanent white settiement on the Missouri
River.

Like all Missouri-French villages founded during Spanish rule,
St.Charles was laid out in a regular grid following Spanish Colenial
town designs. The original town consisted of two lTcng streets of
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blecks paralleling the river, a linear plan no doubt intended ta give
inhabitants easy access to the river water supply as was the case in
St.Louis.{1) Third Street was the western limits in 1791, beyond which
were the Ccmmons, City blocks cor sguares in 8t.Charles were measured
gut into the customary size of 240 X 30C French feet; main streets
(Grande Rues) paralleling the river were laid out 32 feet wide and
cross streets 32 feet wide. Typical also of early practice in St.
Louis, District blocks were never subdivided as private Additicns, but
generally were conveyed in parcels of block halves {120 X 200 feet},
quarters (120 X 130 feet) or occasionally eighths (60 X 150),
maintaining the gparcel sizes of the criginal land grants. HNeot unti!
the second half gf the 13th century were smallar parcels in demand for
Building lots in scme Frenchtown blocks.

Bilanchetta's trading post, the public sguare {Place Publique), and the
first Cathelic church buildings were located cn Scuth Main Street some
distance south of the Frenchtown District. Consaguentiy, South Main
early developed as the taown centar of commearce, industry, finance,
waorship and acvernment. It was here that Americans who began pouring
into St.Charles during the first two decades of the 19th century mainly
settled and made their strongest imprint on the old French viilage.
Betweean 1821-1826, the brick building at 208~14 Scuth Main served as
Missouri’s first state capitol. Although not as heavily settled as the
sguth part of town, deed records reveal that by the Tate 18th and early
19th centuries, many Frenchtown blocks were under cultivation and
inhabited. The aresa, however, long-retained 2 low density, rural
aspect. Well intc the mid-19th century, some whole or half-blocks were
reserved as estates or small farms with fences, barns and cother
outbuildings. That the neighborhocd had acquired a distinct identity
is ciear from at least one source: an early 20th century deed which
described a property as, "known as the Franchtownh house”.

The early landholders in Frenchtcwn were a mix of native French
Canadians and familiss of French Canadian descent whe either had moved
tc St. Charles directly from, or who had been born in earlier French
settlements in Upper Louisiana including Cahckia, Kaskaskia, Fort da
Chartres (all in I1linois}, Vincennes (Indiana), St. Louis, and Ste.
Genevieve, Missouri. An examination of marriage and baptismal rescords
for csome fifteen District families indicated that by mid-19th century,
intermarr-iage of these large French families had generated a community
of closelv-related geople. A few more, not related by blccd or
marriage, were godparents or marriage witnesses. Frenchiown raal
estate passed freely and frequently between these extended families,
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although often with vagus ict descriptions cor without cfficial
recording.,  (These lapses of recorded deeds present formidable
gostacies in rasearching building histories).

Sigrnatures on deeds and marriage documents along with census receords
reveal that only a very few of the French could read or write, lsaving
the histeorian without contemporary literary scurces tc draw upon.
Although English most certainly was the language of commerce, marriage
ccuments which were written in the French language by Cathalic priests
into the late 1840s suggest that the mother tcngue was still used amecng
Frenchtown Tamilies in the mid-13th century; presumatly cther French
family traditions were alive. The strong patiern of intermarriage
between families of French descent alsoc persisted into the middle
decades of the 13th century, broken from time to Lime by cross-parriage
with native Americans but rarely with German-Americans. It is
notewortny, too, that mid-18th century 3t. Charles continuuad to
attract a few, new, young natives of French Canada and of France who
were 1isted in the Fsderal censuses of 1350, 1860, zand 1270,

Little dccocumentary evidence has bean uncoverad which sheds light on the
design of Sit.Charles’ 13th and =sarly 13th century buildings, although
early French deeds and travel journals ccnfirm the use of materials and
methods of construction characteristic of the Upper Mississippi
French: vertical Tog (poteaux en terre and poteaux sur sclle) as well
as pieces sur pieces, and stcne. Fortunately, more information is
available ¢n cne pivotal Frenchtown house which cnce stcood near Decatur
and Third Streets con estate grounds covering four city squares (ncw the
site of Sacred Heart Academy). The house was built in 1794 by Francois
Duguette {(1774-1816), a native of Quehaec who first settled and married
in Ste.Genevieve, Missouri, bhefore moving tc St.Charles where he
prosperad in the fur trade and real estate.(2)

Measuring 28 feet wide by 27 feet deep, the vertical log house was
sti11 considered cne of St.Charles’ largest homes as late as 1812 when
‘t was rented tc Mother Rose Philippine Duchesne (1769-1852), a
French-born and -educated nun, who opened the first Convent and Academy
of the Sacred Heart in North America, and established the first free
schoc! in the trans-Mississippfan frontier. A galerie Tive feet wide
surrounded the house which was raised cn a basement or storage cellar
apparantly having a ground level entry. The plan featurad one large,
central room flanked on either side by three smalier rooms, each of
which opened bcth toc a galerie and to the central room. A loft cver

the principal room was reached by a ladder.(3)
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Cespite the scant sicterial record of early St. Charles hcuses, the few
images available suggest that the galerie, loft, and high basement were
features at an early date. The galerie, especialiy con the frent and/cr
rear aof a house, was a1so a standard feature in cther uUpper Mississippi
Vailey French settlements, prevalent in St. Louis ( where ail trace cf
French ¢onstructian has lcong disappearsd}, and still highly visible in
Ste.Ceneviave, Missouri’s Tate 18th and early 15th century houses. The
iigh tasement and attic/loft (grenier), on the other hand, were geldom
found in St. Louis except in ths mansion-sizs homes of praminent
Creoles such as August and Pierre Chouteau whose houses followed
Lecuisiana piantaticn types.{4) Ste. Genevieve also shows little
evidence of the full basement stery. Although both French Canada and
Franch Lcuisiana developed high basement, galeried houses with lofis or
greniers, Canada seems to be a more likely influence on St.Charles
owing te its French Canadian backgrcund., Houses of 12th and early
century Quebec Province, in fact, axhibit a remarkable similarity to
those standing in St.Charles tcday.(5)

2th

The strongest evidence of the Distrizt’s French heritage is found in a
group of mid-19th century houses which reflect the galeria/high
basement/1oft design traditions associatad with the French in the New
World. Perhaps because of Frenchtown’s relative isolation from the
majer early thrust of American influence in the south part of town,
tagether with the sustained clustering of French families in the ncrth
end, amcng other things, vernacular French Colonial house design
fleurished in Franchtcown as it did no where else in the ¢ity so Tate in
time. More surprising is the fact that the majority of these houses
were built for German immigrants who by 1850 already were cutnumbering
the French in Frenchtown.

Most of these houses are concentrated aleng Morth Third and North
Fourth Strests. A few were clearly Luilt by French families as early
as the 1330s and possibly before. Third Street frontage of Block 26
{between Decatur and Franklin Streets), for example, includes four
houses erected by families of French descent. Tree-ring dating (6}
indicated that 705 N.Third (Photo 4 1, 2nd from left), was constructed
by Joseph Ictt {(or Jott and various other spellings) who with his wife
Marie DeRci, both of French-Canadian families, owned the parcel between
1337-50. Originally three bays wide with an early two-bay additisn on
the ncrth, {See plan, Sec.8, p.5) the house rests on a high stone
basement with a street-front door (now masked by the porch lattica).
Tts half-timbered wall fabric of cak and brick ncgging is one of cnly a
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few in St.Charles known tc axhibit a method of construction asscciated
with French (and later, German), building traditions in Missouri. In
the same block, 733 Morth Third, a six-bay, red brick house with doubls
entries on the first story and on the basement level, was built circa
1838, the year Marie Iott's parents sold the north half of the blcck to
Jean Baptizte and Ursula Desncyers Bordeau (a.k.a. Juniz) whose
Families had been in St.Charles since the Tate 17%0s, althcugh Jazan
Raptistz was not Lorn there. The 1840 cansus indicates toth the
Baordeau and EBeauchemin families {who were intermarried) were living
there.

Two cther houses in Block 96 dating to the mid-1850s were built by
French river pilots but show influence of Anglo-American design. 713
North Third (Photo # 1, 4th from Teft) features a side-hall plan with
front stairs Jeading to a second story. Ornamental iron lintels
embellish the second story facade windows. Before the present brick
porch was installed circa 1930, the basement with front entry flanked
by windows was axposed under a two-stcory frame galerie. The house was
constructed by Josenh tdward Tebeau, whose sister lived down the street
at 723 M. Third, married tc Captain Etienne La Barge. The 2 1/2 story,
five~-tay lLa Barge house rises from a high, single-entry bhasement and
originally featured a two-staory galerie on beth the front and rsar =of
the house., Cne of the Targest houses in the District, it exhibits
American influence in the double-pile, central hall plan. Etienne La
Barge was born arcund 1210 in Canada, probably in Chateauguay (near
Montreal}, the place of origin of a family of prosperous Missouri river
pilets to whom he was related. Both the La Barge and Tebeau properties
were assessed for slaves in the Tate 1350s; other French families were
2¥so slave-holders.

More conservative designs are found in two nouses built by the Dorlas
family, earlier members of whom moved tg St. Charles from Ste.Geanevieve
in the late 18th century. 1015 North Fourth (Photo #4, 2nd on lefy;
ejan, Sec.8, pp.J.8), built circa 1870 by Francois X.Dorlac (probably
as a rental duplex) and 233 Montgomery, (Phote #2, left) axhibit similar
slans and elevaticns. The latter house was 1ikely built in the 1850s
by one of Francois Dorlac’s siblings who inherited the north half of
Block €1 where they were raised. Both houses exhibit front-galeried,
six—bay, double-entry first floors raised on double-entry hLasement
levels. Although bcth are two rooms wide and two rocoms deep, thers is
ghysical avidence which suggests that 233 Montgomery criginally was two
rooms wide but cnly one room deep, following the plan of some other
District houses which later were enlarged by adding %o the rear.
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Franccis Xavier Dorlac was one of six children of August and Melanie
Barada Dorlac who were married in St.Charles in 1818. Records indicate
that beth August and Francois maintained prosperous farms in $t.Chartes
County and owned houses in town as well, a pattern of landholding found
in cther District French families and among German families too. At
nis death in 1874, Francois left a sizable estate, including houses in
three District blocks.

Strong institutional forces began gathering in Frenchtown when, under
Jesuit ieadership, the Duguette estate was purchased and a fine Neo-
¢lassical stone church was completed on the grounds for St.Charles
Borromeo parish in 1827. A year later, Mother Duchesne returnsd to
St.Charles to reestablish Sacred Heart Academy in the old Duguette
house., With encouragement and suppcert of the Jesuits who donated part
of the Duguette tract, the Academy, in 1835, was able to erect a two-
story brick convent and school, built by a Mr.0'Neil of St.Locuis (Photo
#26, center building with steps). Three years later, the Federal style
building was enlarged to the north where it joined the stone parish
church which later was replaced with the present 1883 chapel. (7)
Another addition to the scuth in the mid-1850s completed the present
central main block, and provided dormitory space for boarders, a
¢lassrocm and a refectory.(8) Set back high on a hill, this compiex of
buildings presented an impressive architectural and instituticnal image
which was unmatched anywhere in the city (Photo #33).

Mother Fhilippine Duchesne’s more than three decades of religious
service in Missouri (1818-1852) were divided between the three schools
and convents she established in St.Charles (1818), Florissant (1819),
and St.Llouis {1827). Since none cf the St.lLouis school buildings
survive, Mother Duchesne’s active vyears of achievement as pioneer
educator and administrator are best represented by the National
Register~listed buildings at Florissant where she was in residence from
tate 1819 through 1826, and again from 1834 to 1840, although
throughcut her residency in St.Louis and Florissant she made
intermittent visits to St.Charles and continued to advise and support
the struggling academy there,

Equally significant and representative of high achievemant, however,

are her personal atiributes of christian virtue and sanctity whichy in
fact, led to her canonizaticn. These gualities were manifested during
her entire tenure in Missouri, but as a biographer summarized, "they
yielded a hundredfold of harvest in the last decade of her life at
St.Charles”, (%) when she sustained lengthy periocds of devction and
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orayver, znd continued to be an examplar of mortificaticn, "allowing
herself no retrenchment of her ordinary way of living, no little
comforts.” (10) Directly associated with this last period cf her 7ife
are the 1835 and 1338 sections of the St.Charles academy, inciuding the
small room with spare furnishings (described by & 19th cantury visitor
as "a veritable sanctuary” of the virtue of poverty) which has been
preserved in the 1238 section of the Academy.

Despite her advanced age, Mother Duchesne’s remaining years in
St.Charles were never idle. Her counsel was sought cn impcrtant
sonvent matters, and on twe different cccasions she successfully
intervened with authorities in France to keep the financially-
distressed school in St.Charies cpen, sparing it the fate of the
Florissant zschool which was permanently closed in 1246. CShortly before
her 82nd tirthday in 1851, Philippine wrote to Mother RBarat, founder of
the Society of the Sacred Heart. Typical of her c¢cgent, moving
letters, she earnestly pleaded fsr "safeguarding the existence of this,
our first dweiling place in America”; she carefully argued the
advantages ¢f the St.Charles site, noting its healthful climate
(distant from cholera-ridden St.louis), the "beautifully situated
property” {much admired by Bishop DuBourg), and its potential for
growth due to the "great influx of settlers ... npeopling the rural
districts, and curs is the only place for Catholic educaticn in the
territory north of the Misscuri River.” {(11) Nothwithstanding her
contributicns in these areas of convent 1ife as well as her extensive
needlewor% of altar iinens and clothing for church missions on the
western frontier, chroniclers of the day most often remarked on her
rigorcus religious observances, and cn her saintly virtues manifested
in habits of mind as well as conduct.

Indeed, many of Mother Duchesne's contemporaries, both Tlay and cleric,
sensed she was destined for sainthood, although it was not until 1895
that Archbishop Peter Kenrick began gathering depositicns regarding her
character and sanctity to initiate the process of canonization, As
William 8. Faherty, $.J., noted historian of the St.Louis archdiccese
observed at the time of her cancnization July 3, 1988, "Mother
Duchesne's public efforts set her apart as a woman of achievement.
Semething more made her a saint...”.(12) The "something more”,
accaording to canon law of the Roman Catholic Church, was her cumulative
life devcted tc the practice of "Christian virtues to a heroic degree”
and her "reputation for sanctity”, along with evidence of three
miracles attributed to her fntercession.(13) The virtuas which
informed her sanctity were revealed by testimony of persaons who knew
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ner, as well as by her own Jletters, both of which were sent to the
Yatican for review. Amang the virtues deemed most prominent by her
sontemporaries were "her devotion to the Sacred Heart in the Blessed
Sacrament, her love of poverty, her dsep humility, her csa21f-denial and
penance, her zeal for the saivation of souls, and her charity.” 714)

Peter Verhaegen, a founder and first president of St.Lcuis University,
and Mother Duchesne’s parish priest in St.Charlaes, stated that "She was
a perfact religious, and as far as I can judge, she never lost her
taptismal innocence.”(18) A similar assessment was recorded from
Archbishap Kenrick, who found her to be the "nablest and most . irtucus
soul he had ever kncwn™.{16) Father Peter DeSmet, who visited
Philippine in St.Charles various times during her last years spoke cf
the "increase in edification” he experienced with each visit, always
leaving "with a higher opinion of her virtues and sanctified 1ife, and
always with the full conviction that I had conversed with a truly
lTiving saint.” {17} Three weeks after her burial in St.Charles on the
Sacred Heart grounds in November, 1852, Father DeSmet concluded, "No
greater saint ever lived in Missouri, nor parhaps in the whecle Union”
{(18).

The Tengthy review and evaluation process for canonization were marked
by a Vatican panel declaring Mother Duchesne "Venerable” in 1909, and

a woman of "heroic virtue” in 1935, In 1340, she was beatified by Pope
Pius XII, and assigned & feast day on which a Mass could be celebrated
in her henor in the local diocese. Upon cancnization, the veneration
cf Saint Rose Philippine Duchesne was extended to the whole Church and
made mandatory.(19) As her beatification required burfal above ground,
her remains were removed from the circa 1855 octagonal shrine still
standing on the Academy front lawn {Photo #26, right foreground); in
1951 she was reinterred in a new stone shrine (See Architectural Survey

Map).

The pace of German immigration to St.Charles dramatically guickened in
the 1850s and 1860s. The heavy settlement was reflected in the city’s
population increase of 116 parcent from 1850 to 1850, and a 72 percent
increase in the following decade. Outside cf St.louis, St.Charles was
the largest town of German-settled Misscuri, a part of the "German-
belt” extending up beth sides of the Missouri River from St.Leuis. In
1870, St.Charles’ population was 5,570, making it Misscuri's fifth
Targest ¢city. That year 1t was estimated that three-fourths of the
commuriity were either German-born or first generation German-American.
A recent study of St.Charles and adjacent Warren counties revealed that
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the ragicnal crigins of immigrants were goncentrated in narthwest
Germany. Hannoverians wers Tive times more riumerous than expected,
followed by Germans from Oldenbterg and Brunswick. Two-thirds of
Germans in St.Charles City came from either Prussia {which usually
meant Westfalia) or Hanncver. Alsatians, who usually reportad their
place of hirth as France, were also represented in St.Charles.{2C)

As in other Missouri-German settlements, Germans in St.Charles
astablizhed their own institutions. By 1348, they had crganized
separate Cathotlic and Protestant churches in the south part of town;
Frenchtcwn German Catholics, however, attended St.Charles Barromeo
parish. Eeer brewing, viticulture, and brickmaking were characteristic
Missouri-German activities early taken up by St.CZharles immigrants. In
the post-Tivil War era, thres German language newspapers were cublished
in St.Charles; a Turnverein and cther German cultural institutions were
organized.

The Germans who began purchasing land in Frenchtown in the Tate 1340s
and 1350s adepted what must have been the prevailing house type there.
Undoubtedly topographical and ¢limatic aspects of the French house zlso
appealed tc Frenchtown Germans who found the high basement well-suited
to the sloping land of many Oistrict blocks, and the galerie a welccme
shetter from Missouri extremes of heat and cold. A topographical
pattern of influence can he chsarved in houses which feature rear
galeries and hich basements and in those designed with front galeries
and high baseaments. The former are located on the east sides of
N.Third and N.Fgurth Streets on land which slopes downward, while the
latter are sited on the upward sloping west sides of N.Third and
N.Fecurth, 3Some hillside houses, however, feature galeries but not high
nasements. It is interesting to see that in the south end of town,
which has similar topcgraphy and also experienced significant early
German settlement, cnly 3 few houses there displiay French faatures.

Because of the lack of early records and difficuities in establishing
land values, it is virtually impossible to know whether cr not some cf
the bleccks purchased by Germans inciuded small one or two room houses
built by french families and then enlarged by German cwners. Several
houses clearly began as two-room linear structures having either two
rooms side-by-side with each room accessed by front and rear doors, and
communicating by an interior docr; or a plan one room wide and two
rooms deep with single front and rear entrances. Two houses, faor
example, at 1209 and 1219 N.Fourth Street (Photo #5, right) began as
one or two frame rooms (laterally aligned), and later received brick
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additions to the rear making each house two rooms deep., The block was
ieased in 1832 tg Canadian-born stonemason Toussaint Brunelle and
subsequently was purchased in 1852 hy Hannoverians Caspar and Henry
Dallmeyer, each acquiring a half block which they held until the =arly
2Gth century.

Similar uncertainty surrounds the construction of houses in the 10386
Elock of N.Third (City Block 99) which today exhibits a unified
streetscape of four, raised-basement, front-galerisd houses {Photos #
3, left foreground; and 82, right foreground). While two houses, 1013
and 1027 N.Third, {originally buiit twe rcoms wide and cne room cdaep),
may predate 1852, the other two houses illustrate late 19th century
permutaticns exhibited in the circa 1290 mansard rcof addition toc 1001
N. Third (Photo #2, right foreground) and the increased height of 1017-
19 (Photo #3, 2nd from left; Sec.8, p.14; Plan), which was constructed
around 1890.

8lock 99 was confirmed to Charles Tayon, a land grant which eventually
passed to descendant Nelson Millingten in 1852. That year Melson and
his wife Marguerite Dorlac sold the hlock te John David Borgmeier, a 30
year cld immigrant from Hannover, Germany, whose cnly reported
accupation was "retired farmer” in the 1870 and 1880 censuszes. Within
a year, the block was subdivided into three JTots. John David Borgmeier
reserved the north half of the block {which remained in the family
until the early 20th century), but immediately sold the scuth half to
John Batthasar Borgmeier, a Hannoverian carpenter who built 1001 N.
Third on the corner of Lawrence Street (Photo 42, right foreground).

In 1853, John Baltthasar scid the north half of his parcel to Henry
Theoerner, a 28 year old painter born in Hannover. Thoerner’s house,
1013 N.Third (Photc #3, 1st on left; Sec.8 pp.16,17,Plan) is
distinguished as the only District residence exhibiting az hipped roof
(original to the house), and the only one having a nine-hbay primary
facade, the southern three bays representing an addition to the
original six-bay house.

In general, one can only speculate as to the uses of the basement rooms
in the French house type (possible kitchens, or storage areas and/or
workshops). There is, however, more substantial evidence which
indicates that the high basement rooms of 1017-19 N.Third (Photo #3,
2nd freom left; Se¢.8 p.15, Plan) were used as a small cigar
manufactory., In 18932, John David Borgmeier conveyed the house and ot
to his son-in-law, John Moeller, first listed as a cigar maker in *the
1880 census. From the 18%0s to 1910, Moeller was issued fire insurance




m

NPS Form 10-300-a Al Aoprover NG, T0Z24-0018
(6-84)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet

Section number 3 Page 14 Frenchtown Historic District
- St. Charles, MO

1017-1% North Third Street

Exterior: 33 feet wide X 30 faet deep

First Floor Plan

Not to scale




PSS Form 10-600-4 OB Approvas No. 10240018
{8-88)

United States Department of the interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet

Section number _ 8 Page 15 Frenchtown Historic District
St. Charles, MO

1017-19 North Third Street

Extericr: 33 feet wide X 30 feet deep

Basement Plan

Not to scale




NPS Form 10-800-a OMB Approva No. 10240018
{8-88)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet

Section number _3 Page 16 Frenchtown Historic Bistrict
T St. Charles, MO

1013 North Third Street
Exterior: 52% feet wide X 303 feet deep.

First Floor Plan

1 . Lr “ 3o

1st Addition 2nd Addition 2nd Addition |24

[ et

.ﬁ_____k\</} = '\

TEt Addition

18'2"

- kT —
— B s
g’ 34
— = T SRS s S, _._._.__-__H_.ﬂ..‘.._.._mr__ =
5

— N

Not to scale




NPS§ Form 10-900-a
{8-Ba)

United States Department of the interior

Nationai Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet

Section number 2

Page 17
St. Charles,

MO

Ood@ Aporovel Mo, 10240018

Frenchtown Historic District

1013 North Third Street

Exterior: 52% feet wide X 3037 feet deep

Basement Plan

St
removed

Not to scale




Caif Aporovat Ne, 122460018
NP8 Form 10-500-
(-4}

Unlted States Department of the Interfor

Natlonal Park Service

Natlonal Register of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet

Frenchtown Historic District

8 8
Sectlon numbar Fage St.Charles., MO

policies on the house and furnishings, which included a stock of
cigars, tobacce, molds, press, and adrying box.

In many ways the impact of the German presence in Frenchtown during the
second half of the 19th century was nct uniike the transformation
wroughi by Americans in the south end of town =arlier in the century.
In addition to bringing a significant fncrease in residential density,
Germans develcoped commerce and industry in Frenchtown where it scarcely
had existed before. Largely through their efforts, North Second Street
became a thriving commercial strip serving the Frenchtown neighborhocd,
hut also offering competition to Main Street’s prosperous trade with
the rich agricultural countryside. Conditfons were ripe for
development when the introduction of rails, which gradually usurped the
river’s importance, brought important gains in the lccal economy,
expanding markets and creating new jobs.

In 1859, the North Missouri Railroad connected St.Charles to the
Hannibal and St.Joseph 1ine, the first raiiroad to traverse the state
east to west: ten years later, rails extended from St.Charles north to
the Iowa border. The completion in 1871 of a rail bridge across the
Missouri River which met the west bank near Qlive Street in Frenchtown
{Photo #33) facilitated access to St.Louis markets, previcusly reached
by ferry service. Between 1856-1867, the North Missouri Railrcad gave
employment to a sizable work force in its maintenance and building
shops once located along the Frenchtown riverfront where the American
Car and Foundry compiex now stands.{21) The railroad also drew
machanics to the neighborhacd for the construction of the bridge.
Ouring this period Frenchtown hosted numerous boarders, particularly
Irish laberars, although neighborhcood Germans such as the Dallmeyer
brothers at 1209 and 1219 N, Fourth were employed by the railroad as
well,

Before the influx of Germans, North Second Street was a sparsely-tuilt
throughfare of small structures, primarily residential, but alsc home
to an occasional tavern, inn, blacksmith shop, and probably trading
post. By the late 1850s, substantial two-story brick buildings
combining first story commercial with upper story residential use were
beginning to rise along the street, along with new one-and-a-halif-
story houses. Frenchtown benefited by attracting immigrants with
capital to build, and a good supply of resident Germans {together with
a few Irish and French) who were skilled in building trades, including
carpenters, contractors, brick masons, plasterers and painters. In
1860, Germans {including Frenchtown’'s Christopher Weeke) chartered the
St.Charles Mutual Fire Insurance Co., and later in the decade, the
St.Charles House Building Co.; both organizations were active in
Frenchtown.
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“he BC0 and 200 blocks of N.Secend were esarly improved With bLrick
5uildings whaose storefronts were reserved for butchers, bakers,
shoemakers, tinners, tavern and hotel keepars, grogers, zand dry zcods
merehants.  Most o7 the earily buildings were designed in a sparsely
detailed, vernacular Federal/Greek Fevival style. A few were furtre
distinguizhed with orpamental detailing cr b5y size. For example, 525-
27 M.Stecond (Photc #3, right foreground), built c¢irca 1857 by Henry
Brummeimeyer, hoasted cast iron linteis; and Prussian tinner Erns%
Molle's building at 901, rose three full stories, zapped with a wood
w0dill{oned cornice (Photo #7, 4th on Teft).

Mare typical were buildings such as Hannoverian Henry Mayer's
saicon/gracery/boarding hcuse at £24-26 N.3econd (Photo #7, right
foreground), constructed in three stages between circa 13£5-1871.
gimilar to Meyer's building are 819 and 328 N. Second across the
{Photeo #7, left foreground). Erected zirca 1368 by Josegh Ictt,
the only two-story storefront known to have heen constructed by an
owner of French descent. Adjoining on tha south, £19 iz ths work ¢
the Zt.Charles House Building Co. for Herman H. Schambersg, a Prussi
retail grocer who agreed by deed in 1872 Lo pay off the $2000 ccos
the building in mcnthly instaliments of $10, in additicn toc $16.23
menthly rent for the premises. Further north on Seccond Street arz two
cther projects of the Building Company: 1100 (Photo #9, left
foreground), a six-bay, doubls building put up in 1871 for Herman
Koeller, a Prussian brickyard worker who conveyed the scuth half to
Brunswick tinmner Frederich theling {(by the 1880s, tinshops szuch as
Ebelings had evolved into a general line of hardware); and 1425-27
N.Second (Photc #10, right foreground), which was built in 1271 for
-ames Short, a 23 year old Irish-born cooper in the 1370 census who
later bhecame & successful stcone contractor.
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3y 1875, Frenchtown was owned almost entirely by Germans. Only & Faw
native American, Irish and Franch family names were scatticred ameng
ot owners published in the St.Charles County Atlas in 1875. Of the
six ar =0 French fFamilies =sti?1 holding land, only the Lorlacs and
Tebeaus cwned more than one parcel, 3aptiste Derlac gprobably held cut
the longest, finally selling his north half of Bleck 38 {(with renta’
progerty on the south parcel) in 1289-30 when he was a resident cf the
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state of California. However, in the 1870 and 1880 censuses, a number
of other French families were found living in District Slocks,
apparantly renting from German landlcrds. Not surprisingly, the
Pallardie family was well-represented, cwing £c the 21 children
fathered by patriarch Pierre Pallardie from three wives. (22)

During the Tate 12360s and early 1870s, St.Charles, and Franchtown
especialiy, axperienced an economic set-btack when the North Missouri
Railroad cicsed its shops and withdrew the Tabeor force, (reportedly in
retaliaticn to the c¢ity’s veto of its request to Tocate the railread
bridge rzar the center of town). The gravity of the situation, a
pressing rieed for new industry and jobs, prompted a group of local
citizens to organize the St.Charles Manufacturing Company in 1873. The
majority cf the ccorporate stock, offered to the community at $100 per
share, was purchased in small ‘ots of cne or two shares by average
citizens, including Frenchtown German residents. While the original
intention was to manufacture farm implements, failure tc secure gropar
patent rights caused a change in plans. A decision was scon made to
manufacture railroad freight cars bhased on the fast growth of rails in
Missouri. The site of the former railroad shops was leased, buildings
ware constructed, and the first aorder of cars was produced by May,

4
18740023

Cver the next twenty-five years the St.Charles Car Company became the
city's greatest asset. The industry gained a national and
international market for its cars in the 1890s when empioyment reached
as high as 1800 men. In 13989, the local company became part of a
national merger of thirteen leading manufacturers of freight and
passenger cars that formed the American Car and Foundry Company (ACF).
A new building program was undertaken, replacing and expanding earlier,
Targely frame, manufacturing facilities.(24) The 1888 design of the
oldest brick building (Photo #30, foreground) served as a model for
subseguent new Ltuildings and additions erected into the 1940s,
resulting in an industrial complex exhibiting a high degree of
architectural unity. A1l of the buildings featured shaped parapets at
the recefline, along with arched windocws (occasicnally rectangular) set
in pilastered and corbelled brick recessed bays (Photos #29-32) With
the Josz of the St.Louis ACF plant, an extensive site currently under
demoliticon, the St.Charles complex remains Missouri'’s only property
associated with ACF’s significant contributicns to the state’s eccnomy.
{In 1809, car works employed the largest number of male workers in the
state and ranked seventh in the value cf annual product).(25)
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In the earty 20th century, the heyday of American railroading, the
St.Charles plant was devoted almost exclusively to the manufacture of
passenger cars, earning a highly respected place within the industry
for the gquality of constructicon. The plant, in fact, had made
important centributions to the change in design from wood to steel
cars, considered a milastone in car manufacturing., The company filled
orders from majer rail Tines as well as for luxury private cars. QOne
notable example of tha latter group was the 1932 “"Curleyhut”, custcm—
mads for Zarbara Huttcen, 1n which 2171 exposad hardware was gold-plated,
including 1acks, hinges and scraws.(25)

The affects of the car works in Frenchtown were profound. A study of
the 13880, 1800, and 1910 censuses reveals a steadily increasing rate of
neighborhcod employment, such that by 1910, Frenchtown was essentially
a company town. With very few excepticns, some member of every
District househoid was employed at ACF in 1810, and not infreguentiy
both father and scns workad there. The neighborhcod’'s wealth of
skilled immigrant Tabor filled industry’s requirements for widely
diversified jobs including cabinet makers, car builders, joiners,
trimmers, carpenters, mill workers, tinners, riveters, blacksmiths,
template makers, pipe fitters, machinists, moulders, finishers,
timekeepers, foremen, inspectors, stenographers and clerks. Frenchtown
was also home to the District Manager, James G. Lawier who lived at 205
Mergan. Joining the company in 1879 as a blacksmith, Lawler worked his
way up to manager in 1898, a position he held until his death in 1322
when he was succeeded by his son, John W. Lawler.

The ACF Frenchtown work force was drawn in part from members of
established Garman families, some of whom, Tike cigarmaker John
Moeller, changed line of work late in life. Also represented were more
recent immigrants such as the Cpitz family, homeowners at 1101 N.
Third, who emigrated from Germany in 1891; and several groups of
rentors or boarders from Eastern Europe (Hungary, Turkey, Bulgariz,
Romania, and Russia), who entered the ccuntry between 1900 - 1910.
Notwithstanding the enormity of the boost to Frenchtewn’s eccnomy,
ACF's prosperity and growth could alsc be viewed as the proverbial
machine in the garden, gradually taking over the Frenchtown riverfront,
and ¢laiming blocks of former residential fabric east of Seccnd Street.

At the turn cf the century, tweo klack institutions, St.Paul's Methodist
Church and Franklin Public Scheoal, located in Frenchtown across the
street from each cther in buildings which had been erected earltier by
white institutions. Although a few 19th century Frenchtown French
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families were racially mixed, and a few other cwned slaves, there i3 no
avidence which suggests any cancentraticn of blacks living in
Freachtown. The 18%0D census shawed about thirty scattered black
families (most employed at ACF); a few lived in the 400 block c¢f
Morgan, close to the church and schocl, and the remainder occupied
housas further north alcng N.Third and Fourth Streets.

The scuth half of the Franklin School buiiding a2t 716 N.Third {Phcota
213, rignt middleground)} coriginally was constructed circa {1863 Ly
St.Charles Berromeo Church as a parish school; in 1870 the building was
purchased by the St.Charies Schcocl Board for use as a white grade
schecol. To relieve overcrowding in black Lincoln School located in the
south end of town, the Schcol Board, in 1902, turned Franklin Scheool
over to black students living north of Clark Street. Then, in 1914,
the Board closed Linceln School to tlacks and ccnsolidated bhlack
educaticn at Franklin School, making it St.Charles’ only black school.
That year the M.Fourth Street building received a north addition,
nearly doubling its size, to accomodate the increased student bcdy.
Althougn the new addition dispiayed a facade ¢f modern desigh with
Craftsman brickwark, it was not until 1925 that the facade on thea sguth
half was modified to harmonize. A brick gymnasium constructed in 1238
was reported to be cne of the few gyms in the state at that time which
was built for black students, (27)

By 1922, Franklin Schecl offered a two year High School program; a
decade later, a four year High School was established which also served
non-resident tlack students who were bussed in from cutlying towns in
St.Charles County. The lower grades were racially integrated in 1254.
Five years later the Tast High School class was graduated. (28)

The =mall brick Gothic Revival church on the northwest corner of
Franklin and N.Third Streets was erected in 18869 cn land donated ta the
Methodist Church of St.Charles by Henry F.Copes, who had inherited the
parcel from a relative, Marie Louise Cuquette, Franccis’ widow. Known
as the "working Men’s Chapel”, the church was intended tc serve thes
numercus laborers who had settled in Frenchtown for the constructicon of
the railroad bridge, Upon completion of the bridge, declining
membership forced the sale of the building in 1871 to the Franktin
Street Baptist Church. However, since 1891, (and perhaps earlier) a
black congregation has been worshipping in the church. (23)

Residential design during the last third of the 13th century reflected
infiuence, in varying degress, of American naticnal styles pcpular in
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Missouri at the time. The vast majority cf Frenchtaown houses, however,
maintained the materials, scale, and one-and-a-half-story cottage size
found in the earlier buildings. Charles van Ravenswaay, an authority
on Misscuri-German architecture cobserved some time ago that the small
cottage, in fact, gave St.Charles its distinctive architectural
character and identity.(30) Among the few houses which rose two full
stories or more are two atypical Italianate villa mansions, situated on
spacicus grounds. One of these, 305 Morgan (Photo #11, right
foreground} was ccnstructed circa 1865 by Prussian-born Christopher
Weeke, whe operated a mitl in the 900 bleck of M.Second Street. 7098
N,Fourth (Photo #12, left foregrcund) was the home of William
Alexander, 3 Virginia-born lawyer who tuilt the house circa 1869, just
before becoming mayor of St.Charles in 1870.

Many cof the ccttages of the 1880s and 90s extended four cr six bays
wide and were built for two families, although three-bay, single~family
houses were 3alsg tuilt. Cocnservative in form and plan, the houses
differed 1ittle from the French house type, except for the treatment of
the front porch, the absence of a streetfront high basement, and new
Victorian detailing, For example, 706 N,Third {Photo #13, right
foreground), built circa 1895 as a duplex by Frank Dauve, features a
separately roofed front porch instead of the galerie type formed by an
extension of the main roof. The rear of the house, however, is raised
on a double-entry high basement sheitered by a two-story galeris. The
paired caenter dcors instead of the earlier window-dcor-window
arrangement are also typical of this transitional house type. Numerous
other 1399s houses exhibit deccrative Victorian wood porches which
cover conly the center door-bays (Photos # 14 - 17). A plan variant in
rear porch design appeared in 1830s houses which placed the porch on a
side ell (Sec.8, p.24), affording more privacy in the double-family
examples. Some porches are raised on walk-in high basements.

The strongest new stylistic influence came from the Picturasque
movement which introduced variant roof forms (or new orientation), and
also ushered in irregular plans and asymmetrical facades. Modified
Gothic Revival houses with centered front gables began to break the
horizontal cornice lines of many streetscapes, along with a smaller
number sf houses displaying dormered mansard roofs (Photos #16-1§),
Frenchtown's first mansard roof no doubt was the one added in 1875 tc
the middle (1835) section of Sacred Heart Academy, whose original gable
rcof was destroved by fire and tcrnado. FEarly 1890s additicns to the
Academy complex also featured dormered mansards and decorative
corbelied brick cornices (Photecs #26, 27). As the Queen Anne style
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gained Tavor, hipped roofs with cross-gable extensicns brought
irregular plans (Photo #16) although only a few rose two stories, The
District’s best example of a lTarge Queen Anna house stands at 1010
N.Third. Built in 18%4 for Henry Vossenkemper, its stylish profile
with cross-gables and set-backs, together with art glass windows, is a
striking contrast tc the conservative French Celenial forms c¢f tha
circa 1890 Borgmeyer/Moeller hcouse acrcoss tha street at 1017 N. Thirg.

Along North Secend Street, an updated commercial image was svident n a
faw new tuildings which exnibited graater facace enrichment,
particulariy at the cornice and in cast iron storefronts both of which
which mixed Italianate and Revival style crnament (Pheotos #7, 2rd from
Teft; %3, 2nd on right; # 20, left). Several c¢f the clder Gresk
ravival buildings were modernized with ornamental cast ircn {ronts
which permitied larger expanses of window display space. 804-0%
N.Seccnd {Photo #20, Teft), (built arcund 1905 for Julius Kohl’s meat
market), boasted a first story iron front topped by a richly
embellished pressed metal seccnd stary, both fabricated by the Masker
Bros.Ircn Works in St.lcuis. Amcng the 1390s Late Italianate
structures was the Hotel Brown at 729 N.Seccnd, & new building typs for
Frenchtown which offered restaurant dining in addition to lodging.

For the most part, the Revival styles never tocok root in Frenchtzwn
domestic architecture. Colonial Revival was used sometimes Tor porgh
design, and flourished briefly in & row of two-story brick foursguares
built circa 1905-1915 in the 700 and 800 blocks of N.Fifth Strest
“Phote #2733, & street which had begun tc develop as a fashicnable
location in the late 19th century. At least cne of the Colonial
Revival designs, 200 N.Fifth, was built by local contractor/architect
Jehn J. Platte (c.1869-1637). The son of a Frenchtown Prussian
orickyard cwner, Flatte apprenticed to neighborhood carpenter John
Borgmayer, and then receijved technical training at a trade school in
Chicago. At the turn of the century he became interested in concrete
block constructicn, and began manufacturing his own block in a zhop
near his home. (31) Other examples of Platte’s work in the District
include the modified Queen Anne design of his cwn frame hcuse at 527 N,
Fourth, some bungalows, and a concrete block house at 1125 N.Third
Street.

The 1316 stone Romanesgue Revival design of St.Charies Rarrcmesn Church

cn Decatur near Fifth (Photo #25) had one foot on the side of traditicn
and the othar in the vanguard of fashicnable high style church design.

The building was the third church to be erected by the parish in
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Frenchtawn. The 1827 first church, which stood on the greounds of
Sactred Heart Academy, was replaced in 1869 by a sizable Early
Romanesque Revival building, located on the same site as the gressnt
church, The 1883 church was still in use in 1915 when a “c¢rnadc
destroyed the building. Plans were scon drawn ug for a new church by
St.Louis architects Wessbecher & Hillebrand, prominent church builderes.

Louis Wessbecher (c.1856-1%40) was trained at universities in hiz
native Germany before moving to St.iouis in 1381, He received
commissions for aumercus large ethnic churches in St.louis and also for
religicus Zuiidings cutside of the city including Sacred Heart Academy
and St.StanisTaus faminary, both in Florissant, Misscuri.{32) while
gaying homage to the round-arched motif of the second church,
Wesshechar's finely executed Romanesgue elevations were part of a new
Catholic design traditicn in the St.Lcuis Archdiocese, faostered by the
recently-completed Byzantine~Romanesque St.lLouis Cathedral. Memorial
stained glass windows in the church display names of Frenchtcwn German
family members along with native Americans such as ACF District
Manzger, James G, Lawler. Many c¢f the windows were manufactured by the
tmil Frei Co., whose St.Louis and Munich studios manufactured art zlass
for churches across the country.

Guring the teens and through the World War I and II pericds Frenchtcwn
arew and prospered, stimulated in the war vears by high empioyment at
the ACF shops. ©On Second Street, new one—and two=-story Craftsman-
detailed commercial buildings, follcwed by a few Moderne designs,
£i17ed in vacant lots or ftock the place of older 13th century
structures. Similarly, the new modern Bungalow and Craftsman styles
overtogk design preference for the picturesque Victorian cottage. DOne
of the carliest commercial buildings tc show influence of the Early
Modern Movement was the Peoples Bank at 320 N.Second. Constructed
circa 1915, its sieek facade of white glazed brick accented with green
glazed brick reflectad an Arts and Crafts aesthetic. Just a few years
later, Bank president Henry Dallmeyer adopted the same materials and a
similar design when he renovated his undertaking establishment at 8CO
N.Second {Photo #2C, 3rd from left), adding 2 seccnd story and a new
facade. Raised at 1209 N.Fourth, the son of Hannoverian Henry
Dallmeyer,Sr., Dallmeyer also owned a successful furniture business
located across the street at 801 N.Seccnd.

A number of typical Craftsman cottages and Bungalows are concentrated
in Biocks 118 and 120 which had remained Targely unimproved before the
early 20th century. Frame gables, differing stightly in design, are
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rowed up on both sides of the 4080 block of Morgan creating a rhythmiz
nattern {Photo # 22). Similar gable-front houses, some built for two
families are found in varicus other Cistrict blocks (Fhotcos #23, 245,
One four-family flat at 1420-22 N.Third (Photo #23) features Craftsman
brickwork and a parapeted roof 1ine. Thz two-story flat is arn uncemmon
ouilding type in 3t.Charles, “n contrast to simijar working-class
neighberhoods in &t.icuis where 1t is one of the most common typas of
nousing.

In both tha World War I and War II 2ras the £t.Charles ACF plant made
supstantial centributions to the war effort, adapting its production to
the manufacture of military equipment. OJuring the first World War,
more than 30,000 Army escort wagons were produced there, aleng with ail
of the woodwork and chests for artillery wagens built at the Detrcit
plant. 3t.Charles aiso manufactured Targe numbers of other items,
including army cots, ambuiance water tanks and cast iron stuves needed
to heat army buildings in France and in the United States.(33)

Again, in wWorld War II the rrenchtown plant played a significant
wartime role. Part of the tank-building program organized in 18633,
local ACF workers (whose numbers peaked at an all-time high of 2000)
turned cut 1,180 tanks in addition to other military items. In
Septemcer, 1944, the first of 200 custom-designed railroad hospital
cars were delivered to transport the wounded to government hospitals.
zarlier in the war, St.Charles had convertad cold cars into hospital
units. (343

After the close of the war, the pTant resumed commercial activity.

In 1951, the Aircraft Division of ACF was formed whizh began producticn
of tha U.S. Air Force B-47 bomber. With rail passenger traffic:
declining, the St.Charles plant phased cut car preduction in 1359, Lut
a new Tachnical Center building was dedicated in 1963 which is %111 in
use today for research and testing of cars buiit in other ACF
factories.

In 138C, when Frenchtown’s demcgraphic and econcmic trends were
profiied in the U.S.Commerce Department’s Neighborhood Statistics
Pragram, the community was composed of a nearly-equal mix of rentors
and home-owners, more than 50 per cent of whom were engaged 1in
professional services, approximately cne-third in manufacturing, ind
the remainder were invcelved in retail trade. Although only 1.7 percant
reported ware foreign-born, a large number were of Garman ancestry.
within the past ten years, Frenchtown has benefited from the influx of
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new homecwners and retail merchants who were attracted to the
neighborhood’s historic architectural character. The Frenchtown
Community Corporation, organized by this group of residents, is
actively promoting Frenchtown’s rich heritage and taking steps to
preserve its histcoric fabric.
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Photographer: Mary M, Stiritz
Silver Image LTD (Photocopy, #33, #34)

Location of neg. City Hall, St.Charles, MO

Date of Photo: April, 18990
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Pravious documentation on file (NPS): N /A

Dpreliminary detarmination of individual fisting {36 CFR 67) Primary tocation of additional data:
has been requested DStals histeric preservation office
Dpraviousty listed in the National Reqister [_lOther State agency
[Jpraviously determined eligible by the Naticnal ter [ IFederal agency
designated a National Historic Landmark [X__}Locai government
E]racorded by Historic American Buildings DUniversE:y
Survay # {_lOther
[:]recorded by Historic American Engineering Spectly repository:
Record # City Hall, St Charlisg, M0

10, Geoqgraphical Data
Acreage of property __102.6 acres

UTM References
Al Loy b e b 3 S N I T R N I U B R

Zone  Easting Northing Zone  Easting Northing

clo J vl by vl by b v o3 I O I A AR I T T B

m See ccntinuation sheet

Verbal Boundary Dascription
The boundary is shown by a line on the accompanying map, entitled

"St. Charlies, Missouri, Architectural/Historical Survey".

[___] See continuation sheaet

Boundary Justification

District boundaries were determined on the west by N.Fifth Street, a
major thoroughfare; on the east by the Missouri River and vacant land:
and on the north and south by a decline in contributing buildingss

D See continuation shaet
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namaltitle Ma Yy M. St" ritz

erganization date 10 Aygust 1090

street & number 1 2_Wydown Terrace : talephone 314721 6789

cityortown _9t. Loudis state _MO zipcode £3106
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SUPPLEMENTARY LISTING RECORD

NRIS Reference Number: 91000216 Date Listed: 3/14/91
Frenchtown Historic District St. Charles MO
Property Name County gtate

Multiple Name

This property is listed in the National Register of Historic
Places in accordance with the attached nomination documentation
subject to the following exceptions, exclusions, or amendments,
notwithstanding the National Park Service certification included
in the nomination documentation.

Sell 17 ot 2/ 7/ 5/

Signature of the Keeper Date /of AAction

aAmended Items in Nomination:

Item #8, Significance:

This nomination is amended to add criteria exception "A" because
a convent and academy is a major contributing resource, and the
district is significant in the area of religious history.

This information was confirmed by Lee Gilleard of the MO SHPO
staff, 3/14/91.

DISTRIBUTION:
National Register property file
Nominating Authority (without nomination attachment)



6. Function or Use

Historic Functions (enter categories trom 1Nsiructions) Current Functions (enter categones from nstructions)
DOMESTIC/ sincie dwelling DOMESTIC/single dwelling
INDUSTRY/manutaczturina facility INDUSTRY/manufacturing facijiity
EDUCATION/educ.-rel, housing; schooi FOUCATION/schog!

COMMERCE /specialty store COMMERCE/specialty stora

7. Description

Architsctural Classification Matarials (enter categaries from instructions)
(entar categorias from instructions)

foundation _1imgstons

French Colonial walls _hrick
. Greek Revival weatherboard
tate Victorian roof _asphalt

other wood

cast _irnn

Describe present and histeric physical appearance.
The Franchtown Historic Distrizt is iocated on the northside cof
St.Charles, Missouri (population 40,%27;, which is situated cn the
Migzouri River about twenty miles north of St.lcuis. The Gistrict
zncompaszses a neighbarhood with 2 histeric mix of residential,
commericzl, instituticnal, and industrial buildings {2z tstal of 206
contributing: 54 renceontributing) constructed batween circa 1830 and
1344, The majority are detached, cne-and-a-nalf-story hcuses of brick
or frame construction, set kack from the sidewalk with small front
yards. Commercial buildings are concentiratad along North Second
Street, and the plant buildings of the American Car and Foundry Company
cccupy riverfront blocks.

=
- s
[
a
-

Frenchtcwn developed historically as an sthnic working-class
reighborhood whose eceonomic life became closely tied to the raiircad
car manufacturing industry on its eastern edge. The residential caore
of the neighborhood has remained stable with a mix of cowners and
rentors despite the 1950s phase—-out of rail car productizn. However,
cver the vears the character of the zommercial strip has changed
zomewhat with antigue shops replacing former groceries, taxeries, drug
and dry eoods stores, althcugh other buildings house bars, restaurants,
and repair sheps. Sacred Heart Academy and St.Charles Borromeo Church
are both flourishing instituticns, and a black congregation st{ild
worships at St.Paul’s United Methocdist Church.

Structural density has remained high as the result of continuous
accupancy over many decades., Railroad tracks which cut a diagonal
swathe through the north end of the District in the 13th century (Photc
#33), deterred improvement in several tlocks which now exhibit Tow
density or non-contributing buildings. The majority cf buildings have
been well-maintained, and exhibit a high degree of integrity; a faw
buildings {designated non-contributing} along North Second Street have
been sheathed ¢r received new facades, yet retain histcecriz dormers,
roof forms and cornice lines (Photo 48, left).

Tn 1987, the Hatignal Register nomination process was initiated in
St.charlss with a matching survey grant from the Misscuri Department of
Hatural Resources wnich covered all! of the historic fabric of the 13th
century town from the river west to Fifth Street and from Glive Street

[ESee continuation sheet
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